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SUMMARY

This assessmemnsiders the background history of theéesarea together with the potential
belowground archaeological resource of the site.

The potential of the study area was assessed following consultation of documentary evidence and
site inspection.

The site in questionis a known deserted medieval village thsits within a historically rich
landscape with close proximity ehistoric and Romand&ritish activity that could extend within
the area of thesite.

The now deserted village of Welby formed onetlud original group of five hamlets, which lay

round the AngleDanish cental township of Melton MowbrayY A RRt S (i dtgelfwad ¢ KA &
centrally located within the areahich became knowasWhe Five Boroughduring the Danelaw

period.

The earliest reference to Welby is withine GreatDomesdayBookc.1086A.D., when it was
referred to as 'Alebi@ I'AJelBt. This name is of Scandinavian origihe homestead or farm of
Ali.

Within the close vicinityi.e.: within 500 metres) theres evidence of Bronze Age, Iron Age and
RomaneBritish Activity.

Previous investigationsnothe site have uncovered pottery which has been identified of Saxo
Norman' typeandstone walls.

It is not known whether this 'Saxdorman' pottery is from the pre gpost 1066 period as no
reports are available

The potential below ground archaeological remains that may survive at varying levels which may
be susceptible to impact by any groundwork comprise:
Prehistoric and RomanrBritish settlement activity
Early nedieval settlement activity
Residual finds, including medieval structural items and other items (Prehistoric, Roman,
Medieval pottery etc).

Further structuredarchaeologicalnvestigations are required tbelp clarify the archaeological
potential of theSite and the extent of any damage that may have been caused by the activities of
the Holwell Iron Co. Ltd and Asfordby Deep Coal Mine.
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1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. SITE BACKGROUND

1.1.1. Trent and Peak ArchaeologfPA)were commissionedy St. BNII K2 f 2 YS 6 Q&
Church to carry out an archaeological watching briStaBNIi K 2 f 2CHugch, Q &
Welby, Leicestershire during the construction of a car park on land immediately to
the South of the Church an@/elby Lane (SK72495 20952)uring this watching
brief it wasnoted by theSite Archaeologist that therappeared to besubstantial

earthworks in the fieldand during the construction of the car hamedieval walls
were revealed

1.1.2. This Desk Based Assessmamtied out by Force Archaeology (EEApsiders the
backgound history of the areaas well as the potential below ground
archaeological resource of the field in question

1.2. GEOLOGY / TOPOGRA@¥M thanks to Lee Elliot of TPA)

1.2.1. Welby centred on the churcfat SK7254220995wvhichlies 3km to the north
west of Melton Mowbray towrcentre, off the Nottingham Road (A606), alddiy
Bartholomes Vilay and Welby.ane. (Watching Brief by TPA in 2014

1.2.2 The underlying superficial geology consists of Cretaceous and Jurassic rock
fragments with subordinate lenses eand and gravel or clay and silt, which in
this area is rich in lias rodkagments.

1.2.3 The underlying bedrock consists of the Mudstone Formation consistidarkf
grey laminated shales and dark pale bluish grey muustavith abundant
argillaceousimestone, phosphatic or ironstone nodules in some areas).

1.2.4 The local topography is undulating with Welby Lane at the base of a small valley
rising(from c87m at the railway bridge) as it runs westwards past the diatc
102.87m OD. Many afie undulations associated with the village earthworks that
previously surrounded the church hayeen reduced, although a noticeable
hollow runsWest/Eastin the North of the field in question and anothergiahe
north side of tke church.

2. METHODOLOGY

2.1 DOCUMENTARY
2.1.1 The potential of the study area was assessed following consultation of the
documentaryevidence held at the following sources.

1. Leicestershire Historic Environment Record and Heritage Gateway Online
database
The Historic Environment Record (HER) online database held by
Leicestershire County Council was consulted for any relevant data for the
study area.

2. National Monument Record @ime Database (PastScapes
The English Heritage online database of asdgiogical sites (comprising
over 400,000 records) was consulted.

3. Documentary & Cartographic Sources
A rapid search was made for relevant published works, maps and
documents held online by various institutions

/
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2.2.SITE INSPECTION
2.2.1 The site was lao subject to inspection to observe any visible features of
archaeological significance. Results were recorded by digital photographs and
noted on a scaled base map.

3. ARCHAEOLOGICAL POTENTIAL

3.1. PREHISTORIC
3.1.1. The discovery of a Late Bize Age Hard (c.1000-800BC) is the earliest evidem

of activity in the vicinity. This is recorded as being foard@75,approximately
500 metres to the Wes{Monument No 321498) and consistedsufcketed axes,
a spearheada sword, a bronze cup, harness mounts and cauldron handle fittings
These were deposited in Leicester Museum in 19R€ecise details are unclear as
they were found during gravel digging and the exact details of the location have
been lost due tanodern industrial activity

3.1.2. Iron Age activityd. 800BG 43 AD) isecorded at 2 sites, one 160 metres to the
North West (pottery), and the other (ditched enclosures and pottery) 400 metres
to the West (MLE 18614)

3.2. ROMANGBRITISH

3.2.1. MLE 18614 also sugsted a continuity of occupation into th&omaneBritish
periodwith Romano British pottery having been fountial trenching suggested
a concentration of late Iron Age and early Roman settlement activity on top of a
ridge overlooking the valley In 198, Field Walking activitapparently noted
examples of tesserae, pottery and tile. This is suggestive of settlement and also it
is reported that a mosaic was uncovered in 1988 during ditchinghgutocation
of this is not known.

3.2.2.1n 2002, dches, pits and 500 sherds of Roman pottergrevnoted during a
watching brief at the Remount Centre 1.5km to the Sebt$. This pottery was
dated as earlylst to 2ndcenturies andalso late3rd to 4thcenturies indicating a
break in occupation

3.3. ANGIO-SAXON
3.3.1. No activity in the near vicity has been notetthoughurns, brooches and beads
have been found at an unknown location in the Melton Mowbray area

3.4. MEDIEVAL
3.4.1. Documentary evidence shows that the site was occupied between 1066 and
1607, and excavationslose bynoted SaxeNorman pottery as well as later
pottery. Building foundations were also noted (however, no reports are available).
During construction of aaz park in the northof the field in 2016 the foundations
of a medieval wall was uncovergehd a fragment of aCopper Alloy Spur arm
of a style dateable to the Georgian period (1€14830) was also found.

4. WELBY VILLAGBHISTORY

4.1. The now deserted villagef Welby forned one of the original group of five hamlets
(with Burton Lazars, Eye Kettleby, Sysonby and Freeby), which lay round the Anglo
5FyAaK OSYdNrft (2gyakKALl 2F aStd2y TALsoNI & &
itself was centrally located whin the area known as 'The Five BorougifdDeoraby,
Snottingham,Lincylene,Stanford and Ligeraceaster(Derby, Nottingham, Lincoln,
Stamford and Leicester)

/
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4.2. The earliest reference to Welby is withtle GreatDomesdayBookc.1086A.D., when
it was referred to as 'Alebie  I'AJEIBt.

4.3. Alebi(e) hasgts origins in"Ali's By", from the Old Norse and Old Danish personal name
"Ali", plus the second element "by" (meaning Farmstead or Village)

4.4. In the GreatDomesdayBook of 1086 land wthin Welbyis listed as follows(Morris
1979, 40,13 & 38, and 29,4)(note: A Carucatevasthe area of land anxenteamcould
ploughin asingle annual season and equatecapproximatelyl20 acres, a Bovate was
15acres)

In ALEBIE (Welbygre 8 carucates of lanéss 2 bovatesvhich belong to Melton
Mowbray. There were 5 jpughs. Now 16 sokemen have 5 ploughs there, and 6
acres of meadow. It was worth 40now 40s. This was held by Geoffrey of La
Guerche from Countess Judi{®60- 30 + 6 = 93 acres),

Hugh Burdet holds of the countess 6 ¥ carucates of lad_EBI There were 4
ploughs. Now in demesne there are 1 % ploughs; andemgillvith 2 sokemen and
3 bordars have 1 % ploughs. From part of a nsijlaBd [there are] 12 acres of
meadow. It was wrth 10s;now 20s(780 + 12 = 792 acres)

Godwine holds 1 carucate of land 2 bovateALEBI It is waste; yet it is worth 3s
(120 + 30 = 150acres)

Ralph holds of the countess half a carucate of landLigBI It is waste; yet it is
worth 2s.(60 acres)

0 By comparison Wharram Percy in Yorkshire (now under the stewardship of
English Heritageh 1086had a \alue of 70 shilling$)ad4 Y2 ploughs and \as
9 Carucates in size

0 No church s listed in the Domesday Sure&®86 AD for Welby (Morris 1979),
which fell within the parish of Melton Mowbray. However, this should not be
taken as an absence of a church as few Leicestershire churchesewerded
in Domesday As wo priests are recorded for Melton Mowbray (Morris 1979,
29, 3) possibly to service its wider parish of several hamlets including Welby
one of the priests may have been a chaplain or cutageefore the presence
of a chapel orsite at this time cannot be discounted.

0 Itwas not clear as to which parish / village shared the ownership of the Mill as
the Domesday Survey did not mention part ownership for any of the
surroundingvillages.

4.5. St Bartholomew's Churalvhich lies to the noft of the field, the other side of the
road, is first recorded as present in 1220 (in thatriculusof the Archdeaconry of
Leiceste), which listed it as a chapelry served twice a week by the mother church of
Melton (Nicholas 1795, |, Ixii), although the pesence of an earlier chapeannotbe
ruled out. The bulk of the existing church layout consisting of chancel, nave and tower
has changed little since the 13th /14th centyry

4.6. In 1377 the number of taxpayers for the village vgasentyfive, andby 1524 was
just seven plus four (Hurst & Beresford 196332)

4.7. Depopulation in Welby appears to have accelerated in the late medieval topeestly
medievalperiod following early enclosure for pasture or improved arable (Hurst &
Beresford 19631, 2526). In 1607 William Digbwho held 610 acres of land (350
arable,200 pasture, 40neadow and 20 woodland, Nichols 1795, 28tas charged
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with depopulation of Welby by thattorney General in the Court of the Star Chamber
(Parker 1949, 75). Within the hearth tax 1870 just seven households are listed
((Hurst & Beresfar 19634, 32). In 1795 just sevdamilies are recorded as living in
the hamlet itself (Nichols 17895, 285).

4.8. There appears to have been a brief revival in the early 19th century with the
populationrecorded at fiftyeight in 1801 and seventix in 1811 (Hirst & Beresford
19634, 32). By 1841he population of Welby was just forfpur (Pigot 1841, 47)
with the village described astawnship and chapelry of scattered farmhouses (Pigot
1846). This was to fall to just thirgight in 1901, although this hadnproved to
ninety-six by 1931 (Hurst & Beresford 196332).

4.9. With the founding of Holwell Ironworks in 1875, the much of what was Welby Village
was destroyed, and pit waste from the establishment of a 'superpit' was spread
anarea to the West of te Ab Kettleby road. (Alan Fox D).

4.10. The last remnant of Welby Hall was demolished in 1961 as it was imsafe
condition.

4.11. Today all that remains of this village consists of St Bartholomew Church, Welby
Grange (600metres to the North East), and Grang¢a@et(250 metres North East).

5. WELB¥ ARCHAEOLOGY

5.1. AERIAL VIEWS
5.1.1. Aerial Viewdrom the 1950sndicatethat Welby Village occupied an area some
500metres from East to West, and 350 metres North to South
5.1.2. These photographs show substantedrthworks especially to the West and
South which can still be seen

5.2. EXCAVATIONS
5.2.1. A report from the Melton Times (May 3rd 1968) states that as topsoil was being
removed from the site for during the levelling of the Ironworks fipttery and
wall foundatins were uncovered. It is understood that trial pits were excavated
but no reports have been found

5.2.2.In 1982 the then Coal Board carried out an Exploratory Soil survey. A map
showing the sites of the Trial Pits dug shows only one in the field under
invesigation. It was situated approximately at Grid Ref SK 725 209 although this
is not certain k must be noted that the current Tenant Farmer has no recollection
of any pits being dug in the field in question, but there were some in surrounding
fields.

5.2.3. Leicester Museums Archaeology Recefite Summary sheet records that 10
sherds of 'Saxdlorman & Medieval pottery' was found. 6 sherds were idésdif
as examples of Stamfomdare. (Stamfordvare was manufactured between the
late 9th and early 12tleenturies AR

Further finds of medieval date found within the vicinity of Welby have included a
medieval pilgrim flask (MLE6808Y00m to the west and a coin of Edward IlI
(MLE6810) recovered from Welby Lodges§4m to NW).

5.3. NON INVASIVE INVESTIGRSIO
5.3.1. Ahollowway can still be seen running/est/East in the north of the field, which
would have joined the original line of Welby Lane. There is anatheediately
to the north of the churchyard, whichlsojoins Welby Lane to the east.

/
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5.3.2. Other potertial related sites include fishponds to the nontfest at Fishpond
Close (MLE 3344) and sotghst toward the railway bridge close to the valley
bottom (MLE3341), while to the west lies the site of a possible former watermill
(MLE3348) with associated mpitind in nearby former Osier Beds (MLE3351).

5.3.3. A Fietl walkoverin January 2017 by members ©p. NightingaleHeritage noted
a substantiabank running NorthSouth some 100 metres in lengtl20 metres
from the North end of the bank was a gap of¢510 metres which had the
appearance of an entrance. At the Southern end the ianked 90 degrees East
for a further 100 metres before it deéppeared into the adjoing Industrial Business
Park. An external ditch ran paflel to this bank. At the corner the height
differential was1.5 metres It was thought significant in that the corner was
rounded, reminiscent of those seen in Roman Army forts

5.3.4. A Topographic survey carried out in February 201 DpyNightingale Heritage
identified the substantial ankand external ditch, also sonid potential House
platforms

5.3.5. A Ground Resistance Survg€(sRS)was carried out in May 2017. This
concentrated on an area 60 metres East/West andrigres North/South which
included thenorthern section of thevestern bank and ditch.

This showed that there appeared to bdurther ditchrunning North/Southust to

the West ofand parallel to the one previously identified. There was also a high
resistance echo that could keetrackway leaving the entrance, passing the first
ditch then turning south between thivo for about 15 metres.

Inside the bak, and to the north of the possible entrance was a high resistance
echo that was rectangular in shape and had the appearaficgalls. Another
echo was also to the south but not as clear.

Two pdential House Platforms , 40 metres by 20 metresrgvalso identified, as
were passibletrackways between themDuring the GRS the thistle undergrowth
was trampled down anane closesto the bank/ditchbecame very noticiable
Towards one end of the platform there appeared to be what could be interpreted
as a passageway.

6. CONCLUSION

This archaeological deskased assessment has been preparedtfa area to the
South ofWelby Lane, Melton Mowbray, Leicestersh{@K72460 2089) by Force
ArchaeologyFA.

The Sitds a known Deserted Medieval VillaggaD1066 to 1607). Due the name

of the Village being of Scandinavian origin there is the potential for evidence of
AngloSaxon activity (AD410 to 1066The sitealso hagotential for activity for the
RomaneBritish period because of the unusual rectilinear high bank witlkerex
ditches andhe evidenceof RomaneBritish activity nearbyRoman pottery haing
been notedclose to thenorthwestof the Site.

Further nonintrusive andIntrusive archaeological work would help clarify the
archaeological potential of the Site and the extent of any dantlagiemay have been
caused by thectivities of the Holwell Iron Co. Ltd and Asfordby Deep Coal Mine.
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It may also help to answeilome of thequestions posed itEast Midlands Heritage

An Updated Research Agenda and Strategy for the Historic Environment of the East
MidlandQwhich was 8 YLIAf SR 2y o0SKIfF 2F (GKS NBIAZ2Y
community by Daid Knight, Blaise Vyner and Carol Alle2012

Early Medieval: ¢.411066

(6.65.1) How may Angléaxon and British communities have utilised
late Roman towns and their immediate environs?

(6.65.2) Can we identify middle AngiBaxon defensive works,
including new foundations and refurbishments of Roman walled
towns?

High Medieval: 10661485

(6.7.21) How can we elucidate further the development of nucleated
villages, and in particular the contribution of the Danelaw to changes
in village morphology?

(6.7.22) How can we shed further light upon the origin and
development of dispersed hamlets and farms in champion and
pastoral areas?

(6.7.23) How can we improve our understanding of the form,
evolution and functions of buildings within rural settlements and
establish the extent of surviving medieval fabrics?

(6.7.24) Can we clarify further the processes of settlement desertion
and shrinkage, especially within zones of dispersed settlement?
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APPENDIX 1: DESIGNATED ANDDBSIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS
RECORDEDNTHE HER WTHIN 1km VICINITY OF CHURCH.

HISTORIC ENGLAMODNUMENT REPORT

WELBY

Unique Identifier: 321501 NMR Number: SK 72 SW 2

Location

Asfordby (Civil Parish) OSGB Grid Referen&K 725 209 (area)

Melton (District)
Leicestershire

Summary
Welby- DMV
Status Other Identifiers
SMR Number (Leistershire)- 72SW B
Notes

Refs. to the deserted village of Welby. (1)

The site of this deserted village was indicated by Mr D. Clarke at SK 726209.

Situated on the side of a hill it extends from ttleurch,which is still in use, down tostream

at the foot of the hill, where much mutilated remains of former stews remain in Fishponds
Spinney.

These earthworks no longer form any coherent shape as the spinney has been split in two by
an embanked railway line.

The Old Hall (SK 7264 2103) has been demolished. Surveyed at 1/2500. (2)

Visible on St. Joseph A.P.'s. (3)

Half of this site was ploughed and levelled in 1966. It was visited in 1968 and it was found that
Stanton Staveley Iron Works waste tips were enchirdg on the other half. A local society are
carrying out trial excavations which have exposed stone walls. (4)

The northerly field has been ploughed and is at present under crop. Only in tlcer8é/
beyondthe hollow way have any earthworks survivedtie other field, the remainder having
been bulldozed out of existence.

Published survey (1/2500 1968)
revised no information gained re the Society noted by authy 4. (5)

Sources
1 Essays in Leic. Hist. (Hoskins) pp.67 ff.
2 Field Investigators Comments

F1BHS 19UL62
2a D. FD. Clarke Keeper of Ants Leicester Mus

3 APs (CUC BK 66,67: Bl 7,8: BR 40,41: BY 11)
4 D.M.V. Research Gp., 1968,10

5 Field Investigators Comments
F2 BHS 2APR72
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Related Events and Archives

Any event and or archive recordsKid to this monument are outlined below. For further
details please contact the Historic England Archive quoting the Unigue Identifier and NMR
Number of this monument record and the identifying numbers and titles of items of interest

Related Event Records

321502 Field observation Field Observation (Visual 19 Jul 196219 Jul 1962
onSK72SW2  Assessment)

321504 Field observation Field Observation (Visual 21 Apr 1972 21 Apr 1972
onSK72SW2  Assessment)

632278 WELBY Excavation 01 Jan 196831 Dec 1968

659648 WELBY Watching Brief 01 Jan 198231 Dec 1982
Related ArchiveThere are no related archives for this monument.

HER No Name Designation Grid Ref
MLE3340 Welby deserted medieval None SK 726 209
village
Description

Desertedmedieval village. It had two parallel hollow ways, one still largely followed by
modern lane. Numerous earthworks including building platforms were visible but are
built over. SaxéNorman and medieval pottery was found whilst digging trial pits982

HER No Name Designation Grid Ref
MLE6366 MON.No. | Bronze Age Hoard Grade Il SK 73010 21174
321498 /Bronze Age finds
from Welby
Description
Hoard, including a bronze bowl and cauldron fittings, found at Welby in 1875
Summary

In 1919 darge group of Bronze Age finds were brought to Leicester Museum, said to
been found in Welby Parish during gravel digging. The hoard included a sword, three
spearhead, harness fitting, mounts, handle attachments and a cup.

Associated Finds

CLP (Late Bronze Agd.000 BC to 801 BC)

HANDLE (Late Bronze Ad€00 BC to 801 BC)

HARNESS FITTING (Late Bronze 2§ BC to 801 BC)

HOARD (Late Bronze AdgE)00 BC to 801 BC)

MOUNT (Late Bronze Ag&000 BC to 801 BC)

SOCKETED AXEHEAD (Late BAgezel 000 BC to 801 BC)

SPEARHEAD (Late Bronze-Ag®0 BC to 801 BC)

SWORD (Late Bronze Ade€00 BC to 801 BC

J
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HER No Name Designation Grid Ref

MLE18614 Iron Age/Roman None SK 721 210
site west of Welby

Summary

Area of mid/late Iron Ageand early Roman settlement. Geophysical survey and

trenchingconfirmed the presence of various enclosure ditches. It was unclear if settle
was continuous or if there were two chronologically separate phases.

Description

Additional Information

<1>Chisem, Sarah, 2018eel Wind Farms (UKC) Ltd, Asfordby Wind Farm, Geopkt
Report

(Unpublished document)

Various possible archaeological features were noted during geophysical survey ir
including two possible structures and linears. In the npttiere is a positive linear featur
running ENE/WSW 30m south of the northern field boundary. Ninety metres south ¢
northern field boundary is a positive circular anomaly. Adjoining this feature to the sol
a subtler circular anomaly. Potentigligherefore, two structures are represented. A sub
linear feature runs between the circular feature and the eastern field boundary. The

circular anomalies are all of a similar sizpproximately 18m in diameter. A swlircular
feature is observe 75m south of the northern field boundary, and a curvilinear anoma
present 52m north of the southern field boundary.

<2> Harvey, James, 208k archaeological evaluation at the proposed Asfordby Wind F
site

(Unpublished document) Trial trenchiimg2011 confirmed the presence of various ditck
and gullies.

HER No Name Designation Grid Ref

MLEG6502 Iron Age pottery None SK 724 211
found at Peas Field

Description

A sherd of possible Iron Age pottery was found amongst Roman fid@8mh

These appeared to represent enclosure ditches. Finds included 12 sherds Mid/Late Ir
pottery, 13 sherds of early Roman pottery, 70 fragments of animal bone, 21 pieces 0
clay/daub and one chalk object. No structural evidence was recortledgh the finds
suggest there was occupation in the immediate vicinity.

<1>Britannia(Journal)

"Trial trenching suggested a concentration of late Iron Age and early Roman settlg
activity on top of a ridge overlooking the valley. This could repredemtcontinuation of
settlement previously

identified to the east of the site near to the deserted village of Welby."

<2> Leicestershire Archaeological and Historical Society, 20i&nsactions of the
Leicestershirérchaeological and Historical Society, VoluméJdairnal)

"The results suggest a concentration of settlement activity dating to the Late Iron Ag
EarlyRoman periods on top of a ridge overlooking the valley. This could be the contint

J
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of settlemert activity previously identified to the east of the site near to the deserted vill
of Welby."

Associated Finds

DAUB (Middle Iron Age to Late Iron Ag®0 BC to 42 AD)

MAMMAL REMAINS (Middle Iron Age to Late Iron-A§€ BC to 42 AD)

SHERD (Middledn Age to Late Iron Aget00 BC to 42 AD)

WORKED OBJECT (Middle Iron Age to Late IrordBQeBC to 42 AD)

MAMMAL REMAINS (Early RormdB AD to 249 AD)

SHERD (Early Romat8 AD to 249 AD)

HER No Name Designation Grid Ref
MLE3345 Roman site aPeas Field None SK 724 211
Description

In 1980 the Melton Fieldwork Group found a scatter of Roman pottery. It was mostly
ware butthere were also sherds of a mortarium and colour coated wares. Eight fragr
of Roman tile and twitesserae werealso recorded. It may be related to MLE3349 (a mos

Name Designation Grid Ref
HER No
MLE3349 Roman villa northwest None SK 7221
of Welby Church
Description

In 1988 it was reported that a mosaic was found 'some years ago' whilst ditchimgas
quicklycovered up. It may relate to MLE3345

MLE3340 Welby deserteahedieval village SK 726 209

Description

Deserted medieval village. It had two paralallow ways, one still largely followed by the
modernlane. Numerous earthworks including building platforms were visible but are now built
over. SaxeNorman and medieval pottery was found whilst digging trial pits in 1982.

MLEL1239 (ist No.075115Churt of StBartholomew, Gradell* SK7252020975

Summary

A small Ironstone church listed in the Matriculus of 1220 as a chapelry of Melton. It has an
unbuttressed saddleback west tower, twin late perpendicular belfry windows and a nave and
chancelall in one.Extensive restoration took place in 1880

Description

Church. C14 and C15, repaired C17. Restored-2869 R W Johnson. Coursed squared
ironstone and limestone, with limestone dressings, Welsh slate roofs to body of church,
Swithland slate roof teower. Chancel and nave in one, S porch and W tow&gh® E window

has Perpendicular tracery amdod mould. 2ight chamfered stone mullion window to NE with
chamfered stone surround, aliyht window to middle of N wall with flattened arched head and
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Deserted Medieval Village, Welby, Leics

hood mould. Similar window to SW, dight window to SE with ogearched heads to lights,
guatrefoils to head and hood mould, smallight window to left with cusped pointed arched
head and 3ight window to right of porch with segmentarchedhead. Pependicular tracery
and hood mould. Chamfered S door with flattened arched heagoich which has double
chamfered doorway. -8tage tower has lancet window to bottom stage W saahel small 2ight
bell-chamber openings, with roundrched heads to lightsptE and W gables of

saddleback roof. Storeoped gables with kneelers to tower, porch and chancel. Diagonal off
setbuttresses to E end. O$et buttress to SW angle and buttresses between bays to N. Interior:
Smallchamfered ogeearched piscina to N sidef altar. Another chamfered arched opening,
possibly araumbry, to S of altar. Plain octagonal font, probably C17. Polygonal oak pulpit with
Jacobean roundrch-headed panels; similar panels at attached reading desk.

MLE6809Vedieval pilgrimflask SK 72211

Description

A medieval pilgrim flask was found in the early 1980s. It has a floral design on one side and cross
hatching on the other.

MLEG6810 Medieval coin froWelby LodgeSK 718 215

Description

A rather worn coin of Edward Il (probably 136361) was found 'in the gardempresumablyof
WelbyLodge, in the 1980s. It is apparently from the Durham mint.

MLE18118 Outbuildings atelby Grange FarmSK 730 211

Summary

Various outbuildings were recded in 2010 a threshing barn, carhed,and cattle shed. One

is dated1843 or 5 on its gable end. (Bradwell, Stephen, 2010)

Description

The building survey recorded various architectural details. The threshing barntimalea loft
access dooand some ventilation slits, the cart shed had the remains of a dovecote in its west
gable, thecattle shed had a timber 'hit and miss' ventilation screen. The separate barn to the
east of the farmyards presumably also C19th in date.

BARN (Late Postedieval to Modern 1843 AD? to 2050 AD)

CART SHED (Late Postdieval to Modern 1843 AD? to 2050 AD)

COW HOUSE (Late RPostdieval to Modern 1843 AD? to 2050 AD)

THRESHING BARN (Late-Rextieval to Modern 1843 AD? to 2050 AD)

MLE12763List N0.136869 Stoneoutbuildingimmediately east oWelby Grange

Grade 11 SK7301021174

Summary

The building contains numerous fragments of medieval stonework

Description

Outbuilding C19, with resed C17 stonework. Coursed squared ironstone, Swithlandrslatte
Doors to left and right of centre of long side facing Welby Grange (qg.v.), that to left with
segmentalarched brick head, that to right with moulded Tuemched stone head and moulded
stone jambs. SmalHght window to right of righthand door wih ovolo-moulded stone mullion,
similar moulding to jambs and ovefooulded stone jamb or mullion as lintel. Mouldedused
stonework to sill and jambs of smaHifjht window above. Opening to left of door has moulded
stone left jamb and lintel. dight window to right of centre with moulded stone jambs, sill and
lintel. Stonework to centre incorporates head of large Tudarhed stone fireplace with carved
spandrels and frieze ornamented with pairs of flutes alternating with faceted bosses. Left gable
end faces yard and has pair of kennel openings with brick jambs and wood lintels. Dovecote
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MLE 1276ZList N0118009§ WelbyGrange Grade 11 SK7299521171

Description

Farmhouse. Midate C17, altered, possibly rebuilt C19. Coursed squaoettone, artificial
gradedslate roof, brick end stacks on stone baseplah. 2storey, 3window range. Main front
faces gardertio S and has central doubleaf, partglazed door, formerly window, with stone
surround retainingjambs, head and hood mallof original ovolemoulded stone mullion
window. 2light casementvindows to ground and 1st floors with similar surrounds, those to 1st
floor without hood moulds. Chamfered plinth moulded stone eaves and st@moped gables
with kneelers. Fulheight wingto rear centre with casement window and C20 porch to rear of
wing with glazed leato roof.

MLE12764List No.118010BGrangeCottage Grade 1l SK7275321019

Description

Cottage. Late C17/early C18, altered C20. Coursed squared ironstone,jtakepantile roof,
brick ridge and end stacks:udit plan. 2storey, 2window range. Central C19 door with long
pointed arched panels and cemented lintel in C20 timber pordigH2 C20 casement window
to ground floor right and 2ight casements to 1st floor, all with wood lintels. Brimdped gables.
Interior noted as having chamfered spineape and inglenook with bressumebove with 1
light window to gable with moulded stone jambs and lintel. Traceried heatkoieval window
to headof gable with quatrefoil and ogearched heads of former lights.

MLE8862 Welby Old HaNone SK 726 210

Description

Site of Welby Old Hall, the home of the Digby family. The hall is surrounded by parterres and
terracewalks of its C16th/C17th gardenfi€Ee may have been laid out by George Bennett, or
his son, whdecame High Sheriff of Leicestershire in 1623.

GARDEN (Early Pasedieval- 1540 AD to 1699 AD)

HOUSE (Postedieval- 1540 AD to 1899 AD)

MLE4002 Sysonby Grange Sched2é672 SK 737 210

Summary

Well preserved earthworks of the grange farm of Welby and Sysonby, once owned by Garendon
Abbey. The earthworks include enclosurbsijlding foundations and a fishpond. They were
surveyedn 1982 and foundations of a large barn(?) were noted.

Description

The earthwork and buried remains of a monastic grange. The grange, which is referred to as
both Welby Grange and Sysonby Grange in documentary sources, belonged to the Cistercian
Abbey ofGarendon, Loughborough from at least the early 14th agntThe surviving remains

of the grangeoccupy a roughly square area, bounded by ditches to the north and south and by
the course of dormer stream to the west. The eastern part of the grange is no longer evident.
The surviving boundarfgatures enclosand area of small enclosures, defined by ditches which
are thought to have served asainage channels, and by low banks. Several of these enclosures,
in the northern and eastern parts tie site, retain evidence of ridge and furrow cultivation. In

the north western corner of the grange issaall pond which is now dry. In the south western
and central parts of the monument are a numberhafilding platforms and levelled terraces
indicating the position of buried features which are believedegpresent tre site of agricultural
buildings and the monks' domestic accommodation?
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MLE3341 Fishpond at WelbWone SK 727 209

Description

There are earthworks of dried-out fishpond to the soutkeast of the Old Hall. Others probably
existedin the valley bottom before the construction of the railway.

MLE3344 Mon. No. 964554 Fishpond atFishpond Close SK 721 216

Description

A large fishpond wasontour-surveyed by the Melton Fieldwork Group in 1978. On the Welby
Tithe Map of 1839 the field is called 'Fishpond Clo&#shpond east of Welby Lodge. Trans
Leicestershirérchaeol Hist Soc 53 1978 p79

MLE3348Natermill at Millfield. SK 720 207

Description

The field was called 'Millfield', and there are apparently earthworks in the Welby Osier Beds that
mayhave their origin as the millpond. The Domesday book mentions a watermill in Welby.

MLE3351 Welby Osier BedSK 719 210

Descripion

There are apparently earthworks within the Osier Bed. These may be connected with a millpond
(seeMLE3348).

MLE16126 Holwell WorkéNone. SK 726 201

Summary

Construction of the works began in 1878, and it opened in 1881. Most of the iron ore came from
minesnear Holwell and on the Leicestershirencolnshire border at Sewstern. The works had
the only blastfurnaces in Leicestershire. Foundries were built to the north of the furnaces, in
production by 1904.

Description

Photographic survey of the Workbles/garage was undertaken in 2013 (see MLE20833). The
report also said that 29, South Street was the site manager's house (see MLE20834).

<1> Dawson, Michael, 2008¢chaeological deskased assessment and appraisal of the former
Holwell Iron Work$Unpublished document)

Richard Dalgliesh and Howard Allport formed the Holwell [ron Company in 1875, initially for
quarrying ironstone. In 1880 they started to build blast furnaces at Holwell; by 1886 two
furnaceswere in production and by 1887 the third wasnepleted. In 1890 it was decided to
build thefourth furnace, though it was made shorter than planned to save money. In the early
1890s thefurnaces were modernised by putting in bell tops. New stoves and blowing engines
were introduced. Calciningilns were built. Following a trip to America in 1900 the Foundry
Managerdrew up plans for new foundries and machine shops; production began in 1904. In
addition to the¥ 2 dzy Rri¢lm@king machinery was installed and later a modern machine
shop, a blackmithsshop and a locomotive shed. The main section of the new machine shop was
a pipe foundrywhich was served by radial cranes. In 1918 Holwell merged with the Stanton
IronworksCompany. Various improvements took place: new boilers, turbine blowingnengi
and a crusheplant to convert slag for road metalling. Pig Casting Machines were built in 1937
and 1941, newaw material bunkers and the Slag Preparation Plant was improved. In 1950 an
asphalt plant wasonstructed. In 1954 a fire almost gutted thé&atksmiths shop and it was
rebuilt as a machinshop. In 19623 the blast furnaces were demolished and with the cessation
of iron makingHolwell became a foundry. In 1969 a new automated foundry was commissioned.
In 1981Stanton and Staveley was acquirgdRonta-Musson, the parent company of St Gobain.
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Further improvements followed with astate-of-the-art melting facility in 1989 and later
improvements toeliminate fumes, reduce noise and improve water recirculatiboday the St
Gobain planmanufactures manhole covers.

MLE18615 Possibmineshafts west oWelby. K 721 210

Description

Two large metallic anomalies were located during geophysical survey in 2010. Evidence of coal
miningin the area suggests they may be possible mineshafts.

MLE15988 Mon. No. 1416660 Pillbox (Type~w3/22) 1939 1945 SK 722 213

Description

Second World War Type 22 hexagonal pillbox with brick outer skin. Next to minor road between
Ab Kettelby andhsfordby Melton Mowbray

MLE15983Mon. No. 1416658 Tank Trap 19391945 east of Welbyane SK 723 218
Description

The site of a 'cone'a series of concrete blocks designed to impede the progress of armoured
vehiclesetc. Tentwelve concrete Second World War atdink blocksnow scattered about and

in a heap. Nexto minor road between Ab Kettelby amtsfordby Melton Mowbray
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APPENDIX 2: PHOTOGRAPHS, MAPS AND SURVEY RESULTS

Figure 1
Site location and surrounding heritage assets recorded on the Leicestershire HER.

Figure2:
OS map showing heritage assets according to the historical periods

Figure 3:
Hartley'splan of 1984 showinYillage earthworks survivingatWélb LINA 2 NJ G2 GKS wmdy n

Figures 4 & 5:

Aerial photographs from the 1950s. (The plane was passingNiamh to South).

Fig 4 shows Strip Fields to the North of the Church. The ditch and bank in the DMV field can
clearly be seen, as can the site of the Old Hall

Figure 5:

showing the Bank and ditch extending all the way around the West & South wifldge

which have been ploughed out to the North and East. There are strange square shapes in the
West & South that have not yet been explained

Figure 6:
Satellite Imager2011 Google maps3howing the banks and ditches

Figure 7:
OS Map (scalg:1250) with Topographic survey (March 2017) overlay

Figure 9:
Ground Resistance survey (May 2017)

Figure 10:
View of western bank looking south

Figure 11.:
View of western bank looking north

Figure 12:
View of southern bank looking east

Figure 13:
Generaliew of field looking west

Figure 4.
General view of field looking South East. Tleddpilatform notedin Fig 9 is in the foreground

Figure 15:
Medieval wall noted during car park works 2016

W/
/X Force Archaeology 001/2017 Page24



Deserted Medieval Village, Welby, Leics

R ] = ;
JY, oAy i R )
e | i \ Y r ~“4~"‘
! ! s b} | \
’.l' S B3 ’L)*‘l ji 1
- -’ 1
il / y i s
! S\;ﬂ»esby House ; '-‘ P '." <
i farm P, & o5 i
N\ & 7N\ s
5 S i’ % \“_ \‘ ft’-
< » N N .‘ ] — .__;‘-‘ 7 ==
‘T ‘?‘:: ;'.6;{‘,“ it ,-"'fin- Pol?er HI”J‘ : N ‘Gr
-~ S5 7 S ? AT "~
ot 9hr~atlcn' f\'f' 7 A 57 !
)

O}MLE18615 "i"wﬂd*
) MLE6809). i MLE3345, 3349 ssoz
"MLE18614 ;

Figure 1: Site location and surrounding heritage assets recorded on the Leicestershire HER.
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the village which have been ploughed out to the North and East.
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